VBM: A Safe Option for Florida Voters

The Implications in a Battleground State

By Alan Stonecipher and Ben Wilcox August 2020





Integrity Florida is a nonprofit, nonpartisan research institute and government watchdog whose mission is to promote integrity in government and expose public corruption.

www.integrityflorida.org | @IntegrityFL

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	3
Introduction	5
The 2018 Florida Election	6
Florida Election Legislation Post 2018	11
The Pandemic and its Effect on the 2020 Election	14
Vote-by-Mail	
The Effects of Mail Voting	
The Question of Fraud: "Exceedingly Rare"	19
Five States with Universal Vote-by-Mail	20
Voter Opinion About Mail Voting	25
Conclusion	26
Endnotes	27

Executive Summary

The pandemic has caused changes in elections as voters rely on mail ballots to avoid voting at a precinct or voting center with hundreds of potentially infectious people. In many states, voting laws have changed in anticipation of a record number of mail ballots, although none has joined the five states that have universal vote-by-mail in which every registered voter receives a mail ballot.

President Trump and some other Republicans have been attacking vote-by-mail methods more expansive than the old model of voting by absentee ballot only with a valid excuse. Absentee voting is acceptable, he maintains, but universal vote-by-mail will be rigged to the detriment of Republicans.

Voter fraud is extremely rare, including in Florida, studies show. No evidence exists that vote-by-mail helps the Democratic party. Mail balloting results in higher ballot rejection rates by minorities, young people and first-time voters. The legislature passed bills in 2019 and 2020 to avoid problems evident in 2018 elections.

Key Findings

- The 2018 election was one of the closest in Florida history with three statewide races undergoing recounts and historic voter turnout for a midterm election.
- Despite allegations of voter fraud and misconduct by elections officials, the most severe election problems were confined to two Florida counties and were addressed by the removal of each county's Supervisor of Elections.
- Because Florida's Chief Elections Officer is appointed by the Governor, partisan concerns were raised when the Republican administration suspended and removed the Supervisors of Elections in two predominantly Democratic counties.
- The Florida Legislature took action in the 2019 and 2020 legislative sessions to address the election problems that were identified in the 2018 election, including modifications to the vote-by mail process.
- The Florida Legislature also adopted measures that some say will negatively impact voters and would be voters.
- Mail ballots increasingly are being used as the primary method of voting in the states.

- **President Trump's attacks on mail voting** may lead to some Republicans distrusting the mail ballots, decreasing turnout.
- **Voter fraud is extremely rare.** "It is still more likely for an American to be struck by lightning than to commit mail voting fraud."
- Vote-by-mail does not help any political party, numerous studies show. It has increased voter turnout in some states.
- Minorities, young people and first-time voters are most likely to have their ballots rejected because of nonmatching signatures or other defects.

Policy Options

- Florida should consider following the lead of five other states and conduct universal voteby-mail elections while still maintaining the option of limited in-person voting.
- If it does move to primarily vote-by-mail, the state should consider pre-paying the postage for ballot return to increase voter turnout.
- Whether it moves to universal vote-by-mail or not, Florida should consider a biannual voter education program.
- If Florida does not move to vote-by-mail elections, it should consider giving counties that option for local elections.
- Florida should consider giving Supervisors of Election more flexibility over early voting and polling place locations.

Introduction

As the November 3 election draws near, Covid-19 poses an unprecedented threat to the integrity of voting in Florida and throughout the nation. A growing number of voters prefer casting their ballots by mail, rather than in-person at voting locations, where they may be exposed to infection by others in long lines for voting. In-person voting will be complicated by the difficulty of finding enough poll workers, many of whom are seniors, to work on Election Day amid hundreds of potentially infected voters.

The anticipated voting problems are exacerbated by President Trump and Republican elected officials who cast doubt about the fairness of the election process. The use of vote-by-mail ballots, in particular, has raised the ire of the President.

"Because of MAIL-IN BALLOTS, 2020 will be the most RIGGED Election in our nations history – unless this stupidity is ended," Trump tweeted on June 22. "[T]hey are using Corvid in order to cheat by using Mail-Ins!² He has asserted that mail voting is an existential threat to the Republican party. "MAIL-IN VOTING WILL LEAD TO MASSIVE FRAUD AND ABUSE. IT WILL ALSO LEAD TO THE END OF OUR GREAT REPUBLICAN PARTY. WE CAN NEVER LET THIS TRAGEDY BEFALL OUR NATION."³

More recently, he declared that foreign nations will flood the U.S. with counterfeit ballots. "RIGGED 2020 ELECTION: MILLIONS OF MAIL-IN BALLOTS WILL BE PRINTED BY FOREIGN COUNTRIES, AND OTHERS. IT WILL BE THE SCANDAL OF OUR TIMES!⁴

These beliefs have placed the President and those who agree with him at odds with many state election officials, including Republicans. The Republican secretary of state in Oregon, one of five states with universal mail voting, has said, "I think after 20 years, we've proven that our system is very secure and voters love it. The voters voted it in, they've never made an attempt to vote it out."

At least six Republican senators have voiced support for increased mail voting.⁶ Republican campaigns generally have had strong absentee voting operations, and many current Republican candidates are afraid that attacks on universal vote-by-mail will lessen the willingness of Republican voters to use mail ballots, negating what has generally been seen as a Republican advantage.⁷

Trump has said he has no objections to absentee voting used by a narrow group of voters, such as military overseas. Absentee ballots are "a great way to vote for the many senior citizens, military, and others who can't get to the polls on Election Day," he said. "These ballots are very different from 100% Mail-In Voting, which is "RIPE for FRAUD" and shouldn't be allowed!"

His campaign, however, has encouraged the use of mail-in ballots in a California special election in robocalls by Donald Trump, Jr., and Lara Trump. The latter encouraged voters to mail in their ballot because mail voting can be done "safely and securely." In addition, the Florida Republican Party began using fliers this summer encouraging independents and GOP voters to request mail ballots. ¹⁰

The 2018 Florida Election

The 2018 mid-term election revealed new flaws in Florida's system of elections. As one of the largest swing states in the country, Florida once again gained national attention due to election problems. Nightly images on the news in November 2018 served as a stark reminder of the state's past. Forever haunted by the 2000 election and Bush V. Gore, it seems like every election confirms the concerns and feelings of distrust among the public.¹¹

Automatic mandatory recounts in three statewide races in 2018 led to significant problems in two large South Florida counties. After allegations of fraud and vote-stealing, ¹² when the legal smoke cleared, the razor-thin races were decided and the blame for the chaos and confusion was placed on mismanagement. ¹³

Broward County

Broward County experienced serious problems during the 2018 election that resulted in the removal of the county's Supervisor of Elections.¹⁴

Supervisor Brenda Snipes became the second Broward County Supervisor of Elections to lose the position due to being removed by the Governor for poor job performance. Former Governor Jeb Bush removed her predecessor, Miriam Oliphant, in 2003 after the 2002 election in which polls opened late and closed early. Governor Bush named Snipes to replace Oliphant in 2003 and she won election in 2004 and was re-elected every four years after.

According to a report in the South Florida Sun Sentinel, ¹⁶ for the 15 years that Brenda Snipes has served as supervisor, elections in Broward County continued to be plagued by problems. Long lines and long vote counts after polls had closed marred elections in 2004, 2006, 2012, 2016 and 2018.

Other election issues in Broward County include:

• A court ruled Supervisor Snipes broke election law when she destroyed ballots from the 2016 election after 12 months instead of 22 months as required by federal law.

- A medical marijuana constitutional amendment was left off some Broward County ballots in 2016.
- Election results in the 2016 primary were posted on the elections office's website before polls closed, another violation of election law.
- Almost 1,000 uncounted ballots were discovered a week after the 2012 election.
- In 2004, some 58,000 mail-in ballots were not delivered to voters, leaving election officials to scramble to send new ones.

In the days following the 2018 election, Supervisor Snipes again became the target of criticism as her office struggled to canvass ballots. On election night, the Broward Supervisor's office failed to report vote totals to the state every 45 minutes as required by law.¹⁷

Thousands of mail-in ballots arrived on Election Day, dramatically slowing down the process of counting votes. ¹⁸ When the elections staff went home early in the morning of November 7, about 38,000 mail ballots had not been tabulated. The slow pace of counting ballots over the next few days led to allegations of ballot stuffing and voter fraud.

On the Thursday after the election, the National Republican Senatorial Committee and the Rick Scott for Senate campaign filed a lawsuit against the Broward elections office demanding to know how many people had voted, how many ballots had been counted and how many ballots remained to be counted.¹⁹

A Broward County judge ruled in favor of the Scott campaign and gave Supervisor Snipes until 7 p.m. Friday to produce the records. It was Saturday morning, November 10, before the Broward elections office completed the initial vote count.

Supervisor Snipes' handling of the ensuing recount was also problematic and took much longer than most Florida counties. At one point, Supervisor Snipes acknowledged her office had misplaced more than 2,000 ballots included in the original count. The Broward elections office also missed a key deadline for the recount by two minutes, causing the Florida Secretary of State to reject the county's machine-based vote count.

Once the election was finally resolved, there continued to be calls for Supervisor Snipes to be removed from office, even from former Governor Jeb Bush who had appointed her to the office.²⁰ On November 18, Supervisor Snipes announced she would resign on January 4.

On November 30, Governor and Senator-Elect Rick Scott suspended Supervisor Snipes for malfeasance, incompetence and neglect of duty. Scott appointed his long-time ally Republican Peter Antonacci to be Broward Supervisor, prompting charges that the move was politically motivated in a heavily Democratic county and a mean-spirited attempt to take away Snipes' pension.

The next day, Snipes rescinded her resignation and vowed to fight her suspension. After he assumed office in January, new Governor Ron DeSantis lifted her suspension and accepted her resignation.²² Snipes then announced she was dropping her lawsuit against former Governor Scott.

On January 24, 2019, new Supervisor of Elections Peter Antonacci released a memo titled "What Went Wrong." The memo described the problems that occurred in Broward County during the 2018 election as "embarrassing" and concluded that, "After observation it became readily apparent that these errors were caused by the simple fact of management deficiencies which led to predictable failures and preventable cost overruns."

The memo blamed "deficient management" which "led to a persistent shortage of staff, a systematic lack of cross-training, planning and budgeting errors." Among other problems, Supervisor Antonacci found that at the time of the 2018 election, the Broward election office had 72 authorized positions, but approximately 15 percent of those positions were vacant. Antonacci pledged to train and maintain staff at authorized levels as well as guarantee that "sufficient voting equipment is operational and ready to deploy."

Supervisor Antonacci now says he has fixed many of the problems the county experienced in 2018 and he is continuing to implement more changes.²⁴ An audit released in May 2020 found one of the big problems the county faced in 2018 was a 50,000 ballot backlog in the counting of mail-in ballots.²⁵

Expecting a surge in mail-in ballot requests for the 2020 August primary and November general election, Supervisor Antonacci has made improvements designed to speed up mail-in ballot processing. In 2018, the county had six high-speed ballot counting machines. It now has twelve, doubling its previous capacity.²⁶

Supervisor Antonacci is not running for the office in 2020 and will leave in January 2021. When asked by the Naples Daily News if the office is ready for the 2020 elections, Antonacci replied, "We work on it every day."²⁷

Palm Beach County

Another Florida county plagued with a history of voting problems also experienced problems in 2018, leading to the removal of its Supervisor of Elections from office. In January 2019, Palm Beach County's Supervisor Susan Bucher was suspended from office by newly elected Governor Ron DeSantis and replaced by West Palm Beach attorney Wendy Sartory Link.²⁸

Palm Beach County's election problems go back to the 2000 presidential election and the 36-day recount that eventually resulted in the election of George W. Bush as president.²⁹ At that time, the issue in Palm Beach County was ballot design, specifically what became known as the "butterfly ballot."

In 2018, Palm Beach County was late in counting the initial vote totals.³⁰ The problems for Palm Beach County really began when mandatory machine recounts were triggered when three statewide races were decided by less than 0.5 percentage points.³¹

Palm Beach County was the only county in Florida using voting machines made by Sequoia Voting Systems.³² The machines were purchased in 2007 by Susan Bucher's predecessor. While other counties made technology upgrades over the years, Bucher did not ask Palm Beach County commissioners to approve money for new equipment until May of 2018.³³ Her request was approved, but not in time for the new equipment to be in place for the November election.

When the machine recounts of the three statewide races began, Supervisor Bucher told other election supervisors and state officials that her county's tabulation equipment could only recount one race at a time.³⁴ On top of that, the Palm Beach County machines broke down halfway through the recount. Palm Beach County was only able to complete a machine recount for the U.S. Senate race before the deadline, so the original vote totals were counted in the races for Governor and Agriculture Commissioner.³⁵

Then Secretary of State Ken Detzner ordered a hand recount of votes in the U.S. Senate and Agriculture Commissioner races as required by law because they were within a quarter of a percentage point. Even after the rest of the state had completed the hand recount, Palm Beach County was required by law to keep counting until their hand recount was complete.³⁶ At the time, Supervisor Bucher warned that "finishing the full recount could optimistically take until December 15 or possibly until the later part of December, very close to Christmas."

On January 17, 2019, Governor DeSantis received a letter from newly appointed Secretary of State Michael Ertel detailing Supervisor Bucher's performance during the 2018 election.³⁷ Ertel, a former supervisor of elections himself, wrote that Governor DeSantis should use his authority

to "suspend Palm Beach County Supervisor of Elections Susan Bucher, allowing fresh, competent leadership to take the reins of the much-maligned office."

Ertel criticized Supervisor Bucher for not upgrading the county's voting equipment, even though funding had been made available by the county. He also criticized her for failing to install Department of Homeland Security-sponsored servers to combat cyber terrorism and for locating a polling place inside a gated community, thus denying some voters the opportunity to cast an Election Day ballot.

Ertel criticized Supervisor Bucher for a lack of transparency in the vote-counting process and noted that a candidate and media outlets filed lawsuits to bring the process into the open. Finally, he noted that Palm Beach County missed recount deadlines and took until 50 days after Election Day to complete the ordered recounts "which other counties had completed in a quarter of the time." Ertel also announced he was decertifying Palm Beach County's voting equipment as of June 1, 2019.

On January 18, a day after he received the letter from the Secretary of State, Governor DeSantis issued Executive Order 19-19 suspending Supervisor Bucher and replacing her with Wendy Sartory Link as Palm Beach Supervisor.³⁸ The Executive Order cites the letter from the Secretary of State and notes many of its criticisms of Supervisor Bucher. It says, "Supervisor Bucher demonstrated on a national stage that she was unable to comply with the laws of the state and her statutory duties as the Supervisor of Elections."

The order concludes that, "due to her demonstrated misfeasance, incompetence, and neglect of duty, Supervisor Bucher can no longer demonstrate the qualifications necessary to meet her duties in office."

Susan Bucher could have contested her suspension before the Florida Senate,³⁹ but in the end she chose to resign in a letter sent to Governor DeSantis on January 25, 2019.⁴⁰

There was partisan pushback around the decision by Republican Governor Ron DeSantis to suspend Bucher, who is a former Democratic member of the Florida House of Representatives.⁴¹ Bucher had been elected three times to the nonpartisan supervisor's position, winning her last race with 76.7 percent of the vote in 2016.

On the day of Governor DeSantis' announcement of Bucher's suspension, there was an outburst of partisan protest. ⁴² Chairwoman of the Florida Democratic Party Terrie Rizzo, a Palm Beach County resident, accused DeSantis of "gross overreach and a politically motivated move to consolidate power and obstruct the will of the people."

Democratic Congressman Ted Deutch said, "the focus should have been on getting the vote right, and instead senior officials from the Governor's Mansion to the Senate spun these conspiracy theories about what might have happened to try to cast doubt on the election. Now the new Governor appears to be using the doubt that was sown in order to take partisan action in order to replace a Democratic officeholder."

Michael Barnett, Palm Beach County Republican chairman, said he urged DeSantis to suspend Bucher. "It would be problematic to say the least going into the 2020 election with her in charge of the supervisor's office."

Republican lawyer Wendy Sartory Link was named by Governor DeSantis to be Bucher's replacement and she has been working to prepare the county for the 2020 presidential contest.⁴⁴ In February 2019, the Palm Beach County Commission approved Supervisor Link's request for \$15 million in new voting equipment, technology and ballots.⁴⁵ The new technology will allow voters to track whether their vote-by-mail ballots arrived at the elections office. Vote-by-mail ballots will also be printed on smaller, thinner paper, reducing by more than a dollar the cost of mailing a ballot.

After her appointment to the position, Supervisor Link is now running to be elected as supervisor. She has changed her party affiliation from Republican to Democrat and in a recent interview with the Sun Sentinel Editorial Board she refuted President Trump's claims that voting by mail is riddled with fraud.⁴⁶ "No, he is not correct," Supervisor Link said.

Florida Election Legislation Post 2018

Since the 2018 election, the Florida Legislature has adopted two election reform bills addressing the state's voting problems. Some critics argue that in addition to solving election problems, the bills create new problems for future elections.

2019 Legislature

The 2019 legislature passed House Bill 7066,⁴⁷ a major election reform bill. The most controversial part of the bill was not the election administration changes, but the part dealing with the restoration of ex-felon voting rights.

Constitutional Amendment 4 was passed by Florida voters in 2018.⁴⁸ Amendment 4 sought to restore the voting rights of Floridians with felony convictions after they complete the terms of their sentence including probation and parole. Previously, ex-felons were permanently barred from voting unless the Governor and Cabinet voted to restore their voting rights on a case-by-case basis.⁴⁹

House Bill 7066 specified that for ex-felons to be able to register to vote, they had to complete "all terms of sentence," including all monetary terms like victim's restitution and court ordered fines and fees.⁵⁰ Immediately after HB 7066 was signed by Governor DeSantis, the American Civil Liberties Union and other voting rights groups announced they were filing a lawsuit challenging the provisions in the bill that addressed Amendment 4.⁵¹

In late May of 2020, Federal District Judge Robert Hinkle struck down the parts of HB 7066 requiring ex-felons to pay court ordered legal fees before they could be eligible to vote.⁵² The state appealed the judge's decision to the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals and on July 1 the court stayed the Hinkle decision and agreed that the full court would hear the case.⁵³

Oral arguments have been set for August 11, past the deadline for registration to vote in the August 18 primary election.⁵⁴ Whether the estimated 775,000 ex-felons will be able to vote in Florida's November general election remains in doubt.

House Bill 7066⁵⁵ also made multiple changes in the way elections are administered in Florida, including modifications to voting-by-mail (VBM) designed to make VBM more reliable and secure. Those changes include but are not limited to:

- It mandates that voters with disabilities cast a ballot on voting systems that produce a voter verifiable paper output (VVPO) for canvassing and recount purposes and it authorizes the use of such VVPO touchscreen systems by all voters, not just those with disabilities.
- It prohibits voting systems that cannot simultaneously count and sort ballot overvotes and undervotes in multiple races.
- It moves the primary election back from 10 to 11 weeks before the general election to allow more time for overseas general election ballots.
- It extends the cure deadline for defective VBM ballot signatures from 5 p.m. on the day *before* the election to 5 p.m. on the second day *after* the election and it modifies the ballot-envelope voter's certificate to request additional contact information, including phone and e-mail address (to notify voters if their signature is defective).
- It creates a provisional ballot signature cure process that mirrors the revised VBM process.

- It moves the last day for voters to request VBM ballots from six to 10 days before an election and prohibits supervisors from mailing out such ballots less than eight days prior to the election (previously four days).
- It allows supervisors to mail domestic VBM ballots between 40 and 33 days before an election (previously 35 to 28 days prior).
- It allows a voter to drop off his or her VBM ballot at a secure drop box located at each active early voting site and at the supervisor's main or branch office; allows supervisors to set up drop-boxes at *unused* early voting locations authorized in Florida statutes (i.e. courthouses, county commission buildings) provided that the site is staffed by a supervisor's office employee or law enforcement officer.
- It allows canvassing of VBM ballots to start one week earlier, at 22 days before an election rather than 15 days before the election.
- It moves the deadline for a voter to update his or her signature for purposes of validating a VBM ballot from the beginning of the VBM canvassing period to when the VBM ballot is received.
- It creates a process to use valid provisional and VBM ballot cure affidavits to update voter signatures immediately and provides for post-election notice to electors whose ballots are invalidated due to a signature discrepancy.
- It provides ballot uniformity, requiring ballot instruction either be centered across the top of the ballot or in the leftmost column as long as there are no individual races below the column instructions, in most cases; and requiring all vote targets to be ovals.

2020 Legislature

House Bill 1005⁵⁶ was passed in the 2020 Florida legislative session. The law goes into effect in January 2021 and will not apply to the 2020 elections. The bill would allow the use of state-certified, digital-imaging tabulating equipment to conduct recounts.⁵⁷ Currently, nine counties in Florida use that equipment to conduct post-certification audits.

Supporters of HB 1005, including the Florida Supervisors of Elections, argue it will make recounts quicker and easier.⁵⁸ Recounts were a major problem during the 2018 election, especially in Palm Beach County where the recounts took weeks to complete.⁵⁹

Opponents of the law called on Governor DeSantis to veto HB 1005 because they question the technology used to conduct the recounts.⁶⁰ They argued that the law allows the use of digital images of ballots rather than the actual paper ballots and makes the re-tabulation technology susceptible to being "hacked."

Despite the objections of more than 35 individuals and organizations including the League of Women Voters and Common Cause, HB 1005 was signed into law by Governor DeSantis on June 27.

The Pandemic and its Effect on the 2020 Election

Covid-19 concerns led some states to change voting methods for the primary elections. Those and other changes are the subject of a legal war being conducted by both parties and both campaigns. "Republicans and Democrats are now preparing for a pitched legal battle over which votes will count and when they should be counted," one report said. The Republican National Committee has dedicated \$20 million to oppose expanded vote-by-mail. The Biden campaign has organized 600 lawyers and 10,000 volunteers for election security. 61

One academic election expert is following 130 pandemic election lawsuits. A firm that does work for the Democratic party is following 35 voting rights cases. Another count shows that "Candidates, voters, party groups and advocacy groups have filed at least 151 lawsuits related to coronavirus and the election in 41 states through July 15."

In Florida, a voting lawsuit against the state ended when Democratic and left-leaning groups dropped it after the state agreed to make voter registration and VBM changes. They said they "accepted the state's pledge to work with county supervisors of elections to educate voters about vote-by-mail and to use the maximum number of early-voting days available."

The agreement also included a pledge by the state to encourage supervisors of elections to use drop boxes for returning mail ballots, offer Spanish-language vote-by-mail requests and increase efforts to educate voters about registration and mail voting. In addition, election officials must reach out to potential voters to help them understand VBM to avoid disproportionate rejection of ballots cast by minorities unfamiliar with mail voting. The voter outreach in part will use databases of the Electronic Registration Information Center (ERIC) to crosscheck voter registration records. 66

Other requests in the suit, including requiring elections officials to cover voting costs for mail-in ballots, had been rejected when the federal judge assigned the case refused to order changes immediately.⁶⁷

Vote-by-Mail

States adopt and administer their own election laws, and they vary considerably. Traditional Election Day voting at polling places is at one end of the range of possibilities and all-mail voting at the other end, with absentee voting in the middle.⁶⁸

Although absentee voting and early voting laws differ in the states and sometimes are the source of controversy, this analysis focuses on mail balloting, the current flashpoint in partisan maneuvering. Five states currently conduct all elections by mail – Oregon, Utah, Washington, Colorado and Hawaii. At least 21 other states conduct some local elections by mail. ⁶⁹ Of all states, 29 are "no-excuse" states, where voters can vote by mail for any reason. Sixteen are "excuse-only" states, where voters must specify a reason why they cannot go to the polls. ⁷⁰

Florida is a "no-excuse" state. Since 2002 Florida voters have been able to request a mail ballot for any reason. In 2016, the Florida Legislature replaced the term "absentee ballot" to vote-by-mail ballot to reflect the fact that no excuse is required to vote by mail.^{71,72}

All-mail elections are like absentee voting for everyone, although voters aren't required to cite a reason for voting by mail. Such elections are referred to as "vote by mail" (VBM) or universal mail voting. Under those systems, all qualified voters are mailed a ballot to complete, enclose in a mailing envelope, sign an affidavit on the outside of the envelope and either mail the ballot or drop it at an election office. In all-mail elections, voters can still vote in person at a vote center during an early voting period or on Election Day itself.⁷³

Most states verify absentee and mail-in ballots by comparing the signature of the voter on the ballot envelope with the signature on file. Eight states require a witness signature and three require a notarized signature. Eight states check to make sure that ballot envelopes are signed. Two states require that a photocopy of an ID is returned with the ballot.⁷⁴

Voting by mail has accelerated in recent years and grew even more in this year's primaries as coronavirus concerns raised voters' fears of voting in a fixed-location vote precinct or center. In spring 2020 presidential primaries, more than half of votes were cast by mail in nine states. Florida was close behind, with 45 percent of votes cast by mail, 55 significantly higher than the roughly 30 percent who voted by mail in the 2016 and 2018 general elections. 66

The Effects of Mail Voting

The Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in many calls for states to revise election rules to assure voting rights for everyone and to avoid problems evident in both mail and in-person voting in the Spring 2020 primary elections. Some states without long familiarity in vote-by-mail experienced

problems in both administration of the election and voters' failure to understand and comply with VBM requirements.

- For example, in New York, all absentee ballots had not been counted more than three
 weeks after its June primary election, due to a large increase in the number of voters
 voting by mail.⁷⁷
- In Maryland's presidential primary, mail ballots were delivered late due to errors and inconsistencies in the information on the ballots. All voters were expecting to be mailed a ballot, but five percent never arrived. In-person voting also had problems; too few vote centers led to dozens of voters waiting in line two hours after polls were scheduled to close because social distancing requirements slowed balloting. Similar problems occurred in Georgia and Wisconsin, where about 14,000 absentee voters never received ballots. Wisconsin also rejected more than 14,000 absentee ballots because they lacked witness signatures.
- Florida also had problems in its March presidential primary. More than 18,000 who voted by mail did not have their votes counted, according to an analysis by national elections experts and academics. Those uncounted ballots made up only 1.3 percent of total mail ballots cast a small number, but enough to make a difference in tight races to which Florida has become accustomed. Supervisors of elections indicated that mail ballots arriving late and ballot defects, such as lack of a signature or signature mismatch, were responsible for many of the uncounted mail ballots. Black and Hispanic voters, younger voters and first-time voters all had higher uncounted rates than all voters.⁸²

It is clear that mail ballots are rejected at a higher rate than votes in person. A study by the U.S. Election Assistance Commission found that about one percent of the 33 million mail ballots in 2016 were not counted. Rejection rates were somewhat lower in states with experience in mail elections, but even they rejected about 0.90 percent of ballots.⁸³

Problems in primary elections and an expected explosion in the number of mail ballots lead to fears that hundreds of thousands of people could have their votes rejected in the general election.⁸⁴

Vote-by-Mail Does Not Help Any Political Party

Some Republicans oppose vote-by-mail because they say it benefits Democrats, although there is no evidence that it is true. They may take their cue from President Trump, who complained after the 2016 election that he lost the popular vote only because of massive fraud. He convened a commission on voting integrity that collapsed in part because state election officials of both

parties objected to the premise of large-scale voter fraud. "They can go jump in the Gulf of Mexico," said the Republican secretary of state in Mississippi, asserting "our state's right to protect the privacy of our citizens by conducting our own electoral processes." 85

Democrats counter that GOP opposition to universal VBM is part of a longtime Republican strategy to suppress votes by Democrats, particularly minorities, the poor and the young. Their tactics include making voter registration more difficult, requiring a voter ID to vote, purging voter lists and limiting early voting.

"Traditionally it's always been Republicans suppressing votes in places," a high-ranking member of the Trump Administration and campaign said to a group of Republican officials in leaked audio. That view is a continuation of decades-long admissions by Republicans that they benefit from obstacles to easy, widespread voting. "I don't want everybody to vote," a Republican activist who created conservative think tanks said in 1980. As a matter of fact, our leverage in the elections quite candidly goes up as the voting populace goes down."

An election scholar at the conservative Hoover Institution writes that "The hard truth is that there has been a rising tide of voter suppression in recent U.S. elections. These actions—such as overeager purging of electoral registers and reducing early voting—have the appearance of enforcing abstract principles of electoral integrity but the clear effect (and apparent intent) of disproportionately disenfranchising racial minorities."

The President views vote-by-mail as harmful to Republicans. Speaking of Democratic proposals in the coronavirus stimulus package, he said, "They had things, levels of voting that if you'd ever agreed to it, you'd never have a Republican elected in this country again." The President himself has voted by mail in years past. 90

But Republican officials view "with growing alarm" the President's attacks on mail voting as detrimental to his campaign and Republican down-ballot candidates. The attacks "are already corroding the views of GOP voters, who may ultimately choose not to vote at all if they can't make it to the polls come November." His attacks, therefore, may do more harm to his reelection than any fraud.

Some Democrats believe it is their party that is hurt with VBM. "There is justified concern that Democratic-leaning voters may be disadvantaged through vote-by-mail systems," said an Obama campaigner who founded a company working on VBM systems. 92

However, numerous studies have found that VBM benefits neither political party.

- A June study published in the Proceedings of the National Academy of Scientists said, "We find that universal vote-by-mail does not affect either party's share of turnout or either party's vote share.... Our results imply that the partisan outcomes of vote-by-mail elections closely resemble in-person elections, at least in normal times." The researchers added a caveat that an election during the pandemic may be different, based on whether either Democrats or Republicans are more deterred from voting due to coronavirus concerns.
- In academic literature "evidence so far on which party benefits [has] been inconclusive," an elections expert has said.⁹³
- Findings in studies of all-mail elections in two states in 2014 and 2016 found mixed effects. In Colorado in 2014, Republicans were found to have increased their predicted vote more than did Democrats. In 2016 in Utah, Democrats received a slight advantage. And a study in North Carolina of the 2016 election found that Republicans rather than Democrats were more likely to vote by mail.⁹⁴
- On the whole, "there is no evidence that voting by mail gives one party an advantage." 95

Voter Turnout Increases with Mail Balloting

- Studies have concluded that states with VBM have seen "a modest increase" in voter turnout. 96
- A study in Washington State concluded that all-mail elections increased turnout by two to four percentage points. VBM increased turnout particularly for groups who were not regular voters more than for frequent voters.⁹⁷
- The beginning of VBM in Utah in some counties in the 2016 general election was
 responsible for increasing turnout by five to seven percent, a study of turnout in VBM
 counties and non-vote-by-mail counties concluded. The turnout increases were highest
 for low-propensity voters, including young voters.⁹⁸

The Baringer, Herron, Smith Report on Florida VBM

Given the effect the coronavirus pandemic will have on the 2020 Florida election, a report released earlier in the year provides relevant context for the expected increase in voting by mail (VBM). The report is titled "Voting by Mail and Ballot Rejection: Lessons from Florida for Elections in the Age of the Coronavirus." Its authors are Anna Baringer, Professor Michael C. Herron and Professor Daniel A. Smith.

The report recognizes that voting-by-mail is more attractive due to the coronavirus and the need for social distancing, but it concludes that VBM is "not a panacea for election administration."

The report examines the 8.2 million ballots cast in the 2018 General Election including 2.6 million VBM ballots, of which 1.2 percent were not counted by local election officials.

The report finds that younger voters and voters needing assistance because of a disability are disproportionately likely to have their VBM ballots rejected. It also finds a disproportionately high VBM ballot rejection rate for voters who reside in Florida but have an out-of-state mailing address.

Lastly, the report found "significant variation in the rejection rates of VBM ballots cast across Florida's 67 counties." The report notes that Florida has uniform standards for determining whether the signature on a VBM return envelope is valid or not. The report suggests the variation in ballot rejection rates across counties is due to "a non-uniformity in the way local election officials verify these ballots."

The Question of Fraud: "Exceedingly Rare"

One of President Trump's claims of widespread fraud:

There is NO WAY (ZERO!) that Mail-In Ballots will be anything less than substantially fraudulent. Mail boxes will be robbed, ballots will be forged & even illegally printed out & fraudulently signed. The Governor of California is sending Ballots to millions of people, anyone living in the state, no matter who they are or how they got there, will get one. That will be followed up with professionals telling all of these people, many of whom have never even thought of voting before, how, and for whom, to vote. This will be a Rigged Election. No way! 100

Virtually every credible source, including Republicans, refutes Trump's warnings about widespread voter fraud. Mail balloting may be slightly more susceptible to fraud than in-person voting, 101 but in any case fraud is "exceedingly rare." [I]t is still more likely for an American to be struck by lightning than to commit mail voting fraud." 103

Among studies about mail voter fraud:

• "[A] Washington Post analysis of data collected by three vote-by-mail states with help from the nonprofit Electronic Registration Information Center (ERIC) found that officials identified just 372 possible cases of double voting or voting on behalf of deceased people

out of about 14.6 million votes cast by mail in the 2016 and 2018 general elections, or 0.0025 percent." ¹⁰⁴

- "The now-disbanded voting integrity commission launched by the Trump administration uncovered no evidence to support claims of widespread voter fraud." ¹⁰⁵
- A study of "all known voter fraud cases identified 491 cases of absentee ballot fraud from 2000 to 2012," out of billions of votes cast. 106

Among Republicans rejecting allegations of massive voter fraud is Tom Ridge, a Republican congressman, governor and the first Secretary of Homeland Security. "The one thing we do know is that there is no historical anecdote that speaks to the massive fraud and massive abuse of the system that the President has complained about," he said. 107

While vote-by-mail fraud is rare, three high-profile cases in recent years involved Republicans. The most recent involved a mail carrier in West Virginia who changed the registration from Democrat to Republican of five voters, resulting in Democratic voters receiving ballots for the Republican primary. In 2018, the results of a congressional race in North Carolina were overthrown after a Republican operative was charged with felonies for absentee ballot tampering. And in 2016, a Trump supporter was charged for sending in two absentee ballots.

One cybersecurity expert employed by the Department of Homeland Security said mail ballots may actually improve the integrity of the 2020 election because they leave a paper trail that can be audited.¹¹¹

States employ a variety of tools to guard against voter fraud. They crossmatch signatures on mail ballots with signatures on file from registration; use the databases of the Electronic Registration Information Center (ERIC) to find any ballot duplications and use ballot tracking with a bar code.

Five States with Universal Vote-by-Mail

Colorado

History

In 2013, the Colorado Legislature adopted a major election reform package called the Colorado Voter Access and Modernized Elections Act. ¹¹² The law requires all voters in Colorado be

mailed a vote-by-mail ballot no sooner than 22 days and no later than 18 days before an election. While it continues to offer an in-person voting option at strategically placed vote centers, Colorado has primarily relied on vote-by-mail from the 2014 election to the present.

Method of Ballot Verification

Each voter must sign the ballot's envelope affirming, under penalty of perjury, that the voter is an eligible elector, that this is their signature and that they will not cast another ballot in the election. The signature is then compared against on-file signatures by computer (signature verification software) or a trained election official. If the signature is not verified, it goes next to a trained bipartisan team of judges. If the signature is still not verified, the voter is given eight days to complete a form and provide a copy of a valid identification.¹¹⁴

• Turnout

Registered voter turnout in the 2018 midterm election was 64.9 percent with over 2.5 million voting in the general election. That was a 10 percent increase over turnout in the 2014 election. In her 2018 election report, Colorado's Secretary of State reports Colorado has over 90 percent of its eligible voters registered to vote, the highest of any state in the country. 115

Problems Reported

While Colorado experienced "relatively minor" problems in the 2018 election, ¹¹⁶ it is widely recognized for having among the most secure elections in the country. ¹¹⁷ Secretary of State Jena Griswold was quoted in a report as saying that in 2018 only .0025 percent of the more than 2.5 million ballots cast were deemed "suspect" and referred for investigation. She said suspect ballots are "really rare." ¹¹⁸

Hawaii

History

Hawaii moved to all vote-by-mail elections after a 2019 report found the state had the lowest turnout in the country in the 2018 midterm election. Hawaii's state legislature passed the VBM bill and it was signed into law by Governor David Ige. All voters will receive ballots through the mail and they will be able to mail them back postage-free or drop them off at an election center that will also offer disabled voting and general walk-in voting. VBM was used for the first time in Hawaii's 2020 presidential primary election which ended on May 22.

Method of Ballot Verification

Hawaii voters received a mailing from the Office of Elections in April 2020 asking them to provide a copy of their signature. Voters were informed that if their signature on their ballot envelope is missing or doesn't match the signature on record, they will be notified and will have up to five days after the election to correct it and have their ballot counted.¹²¹

• Turnout

Hawaii's voter turnout in 2018 was 52.7 percent.¹²² That election took place before VBM was implemented. In a recent report, Janet Mason with the League of Women Voters of Hawaii was quoted predicting VBM would increase voter turnout in the state by two to five percent.¹²³

• Problems Reported

Since the 2020 election will be the first real test of Hawaii's new vote-by-mail system, any problems that arise will be watched closely. Leading up to the election, concerns have been raised about the security of the election. ¹²⁴ In past elections Hawaii has experienced problems typical of states that rely heavily on in-person voting, including long lines at the polls and broken voting machines. ¹²⁵

Utah

History

Plagued with declining voter turnout, Utah officials convened a state commission in 2009 to explore vote-by-mail. Subsequent changes to voter registration and absentee balloting procedures had only small impacts on turnout. In 2012, legislation sponsored by a Republican state senator allowed counties to voluntarily conduct elections by mail. In each subsequent election cycle, more counties adopted vote-by-mail. Now the 2020 general election will be the first presidential election in which all voters in all counties will be sent vote-by-mail ballots. ¹²⁶ In 2012, in comparison, only about 10 percent of registered voters had voted by mail, and use of absentee ballots remained low in the 2014 and 2016 elections. ¹²⁷

Method of Ballot Verification

Utah uses a signature verification system done manually by election officials that can be supplemented with bank-grade verification systems.¹²⁸ Signatures are maintained on file in the election officer's office, and that signature is compared with the signature on the affidavit in the

return envelope. If poll workers reject a ballot because of signature-matching concerns, the individual is contacted and provided a chance to submit a correctly completed affidavit. 129

• Turnout

Voter turnout in the 2018 midterm election hit a 50-year-high. More than 75 percent of active registered voters cast ballots, ¹³⁰ compared to about one-third of voters in the 2014 midterms and in other midterm elections going back to 2006. ¹³¹

Problems Reported

For years, Utah officials have declared that vote-by-mail has created no additional voter fraud. The only problem Utah has seen is with "presumably well-intentioned parents of missionaries for The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints trying to vote ballots for their children – which was caught by verifying signatures."¹³²

Oregon

History

In 1981, the Oregon Legislature approved a test of vote by mail for local elections. VBM was made permanent in 1987, and most counties used it for local elections. In 1996 Oregon became the first state to conduct a general election completely by mail. In a 1998 special election, Oregon was the first state to have more ballots cast by mail than at a polling place. In the 1998 general election, Oregon voters approved a proposal to expand VBM to primary and general elections. ¹³³

• Method of Ballot Verification

Registered voters receive a ballot two to three weeks before an election, complete it and insert it into a return envelope signed by the voter. Ballots can be challenged if they are returned without a signature or if the signature on the return envelope does not match the signature in voter registration records. Upon challenge, the county clerk mails a notice to the challenged voter, who must provide evidence to disprove the challenge by the 14th day after the election. 134

• Turnout

Turnout of registered voters was 68 percent in 2018, 80 percent in 2016, 71 percent in 2014 and 83 percent in 2012. 135

Problems Reported

Ten people in Oregon have been convicted in voter fraud cases stemming from the 2016 election out of 2,051,448 votes cast in the election. Most involved people who cast a ballot in two different states. A conservative think tank found 15 cases of voter fraud in Oregon since 2000. In 2018 a group picked up ballots for voters, a legal practice, but did not deliver them until the day after the election.

In the 2020 primary election, some voters and a conservative website claimed that hundreds of Republicans' voter registration were changed from Republican to no party affiliation, and as a result they could not vote in Republican primary elections. Upon investigation, the Republican secretary of state attributed the problem to voters not selecting a party when they were registered through the state's motor voter law. ¹³⁹

Washington

History

In 2011, the Washington Legislature voted to institute a vote-by-mail system statewide. All voters in the state are mailed a ballot at least 18 days before an election. The marked ballot is put in a security sleeve and then into an envelope which the voter signs. The ballot envelopes have prepaid postage and are returned by mail or at ballot drop boxes. Washington has used VBM in every election beginning in 2012.

Method of Ballot Verification

Signatures on the ballots are checked against voter registration records. Voters are notified if the signature is missing or does not match the voter registration record. Voters can also check their ballot status online to ensure the ballot has been received and processed.

• Turnout

In the first general election (2012) after Washington went to all VBM voting, turnout was 81 percent. In the 2014 midterm election, turnout was 54 percent. In the 2016 general election, turnout was 78 percent. In the 2018 midterm, turnout was 71 percent. In a list of pros and cons on the Secretary of State's website it lists "higher turnout" as one of the pros. 142

Problems Reported

Washington's Secretary of State Kim Wyman is adamant that vote-by-mail elections in her state are safe and reliable. She told the New York Times that all methods of voting have the potential for fraud, but that "her experience in Washington was that mail ballot fraud was low." She points to the 2018 election where her office found 142 cases of suspected improper voting out of 3.1 million ballots that were cast. She credits the diligence of her office for "constantly checking voter registration lists."

Voter Opinion About Mail Voting

A series of five national polls in April and May all showed that a great majority of Americans would support mail voting as an alternative to in-person voting on Election Day if coronavirus remains a significant threat to public health.

- A USA/Suffolk poll found that 65 percent of respondents endorsed mail-in voting as an alternative, while 32 percent said they oppose it. 146
- A Fox News poll found that 63 percent of voters favored allowing all U.S. citizens to vote by mail, with 30 percent in opposition. 147
- In an NBC/Wall Street Journal poll, 67 percent favored letting all voters vote by mail in November. Fifty-eight percent said all-mail voting should be made permanent. 148
- Seventy percent in a Pew Research Center supported absentee voting as an option and 52 percent favored conducting all elections by mail. 149
- Sixty percent in an Associated Press-NORC Center for Public Affairs survey favored allowing people to vote by mail-in ballot instead of in-person without requiring a reason. Forty-eight percent supported voting entirely by mail. 150

In each of the polls, Democratic support for mail voting was far greater than support by Republicans.

Conclusion

The 2018 election was one of the closest in Florida history with three statewide races undergoing recounts and historic voter turnout for a midterm election. Despite allegations of voter fraud and misconduct by elections officials, the most severe election problems were confined to two Florida counties and were addressed by the removal of each county's Supervisor of Elections.

The Florida Legislature acted in the 2019 and 2020 legislative sessions to address the election problems that were identified in the 2018 election, including modifications to the vote-by-mail process.

Mail ballots increasingly are being used as the primary method of voting in the states and may well be the future of elections in the United States. President Trump's attacks on mail voting may lead to some Republicans distrusting the mail ballots, decreasing turnout.

Vote-by-mail does not help any political party, numerous studies show. It has increased voter turnout in some states. Minorities, young people and first-time voters are most likely to have their ballots rejected because of nonmatching signatures or other defects. Florida has modified its vote-by-mail procedures in recent years, adopting best practices to make the process more reliable.

Policy Options

- Florida should consider following the lead of five other states and conduct universal voteby-mail elections while still maintaining the option of limited in-person voting.
- If it does move to primarily vote-by-mail, the state should consider pre-paying the postage for ballot return to increase voter turnout.
- Whether it moves to universal vote-by-mail or not, Florida should consider a bi-annual voter education program.
- If Florida does not move to vote-by-mail elections, it should consider giving counties that option for local elections.
- Florida should consider giving Supervisors of Election more flexibility over early voting and polling place locations.

Endnotes

¹ "The False Narrative of Vote-by-Mail Fraud," Brennan Center for Justice, April 10, 2020.

https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/analysis-opinion/false-narrative-vote-mail-fraud

https://twitter.com/realDonaldTrump/status/1275062328971497472

https://twitter.com/realdonaldtrump/status/1266172570983940101

⁴ "FACT CHECK: Trump Spreads Unfounded Claims About Voting by Mail," NPR, June 22, 2020. https://www.npr.org/2020/06/22/881598655/fact-check-trump-spreads-unfounded-claims-about-voting-by-mail

⁵ "'A 20-year history of success': GOP Secretary of State says Oregon shows mail-in voting is secure, effective," KGW8 News, April 15, 2020.

https://www.kgw.com/article/news/politics/oregon-mail-in-voting-safe-coronavirus/283-68e295a4-f58e-4774-9e40-7048836b8774

⁶ "Trumps war against mail-in voting lacks Republican allies," CNN, June 23, 2020. https://www.cnn.com/2020/06/23/politics/trump-war-mail-in-voting-lacks-republican-allies/index.html

⁷ "Trump's attacks on mail voting are turning Republicans off absentee ballots," Washington Post, July 7, 2020. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/trumps-attacks-on-mail-voting-are-turning-republicans-off-absentee-ballots/2020/07/07/640b6126-bbd4-11ea-80b9-40ece9a701dc_story.html

⁸ Donald J. Trump Twitter feed, April 8, 2020. https://twitter.com/realdonaldtrump/status/1248031484532928514?lang=en

⁹ "Lara Trump-RNC robocall called mail-in voting safe and secure while President railed against it," CNN, July 8, 2020. https://www.cnn.com/2020/07/08/politics/kfile-lara-trump-rnc-robocall/index.html

¹⁰ "Florida republican mail fliers push mail-in ballots, even as Trump bashes them," Orlando Sentinel, July 13, 2020. https://www.orlandosentinel.com/politics/2020-election/os-ne-florida-republicans-mail-ballots-20200713-3wu4lihusbcilmn5utus56bzfm-story.html

¹¹ "Shades of 2000: recounts a recurring nightmare in Florida politics and elections," Tallahassee Democrat, November 10, 2018.

 $\frac{https://www.tallahassee.com/story/news/politics/elections/2018/11/10/shades-2000-recounts-recurring-nightmare-florida-politics/1918896002/$

¹² "Charges of Vote Stealing in Florida Portend More Distrust in System for 2020," New York Times, November 28, 2018. https://www.nytimes.com/2018/11/18/us/politics/florida-recount-voter-fraud.html

² Donald J. Trump Twitter feed, June 22, 2010.

³ Donald J. Trump Twitter feed, May 28, 2020.

¹³ "Election debacles in Palm Beach, Broward counties spur reform bill," Palm Beach Post, March 5, 2019. https://www.palmbeachpost.com/news/20190305/election-debacles-in-palm-beach-broward-counties-spur-reform-bill

¹⁴ "Key Florida election officials have no previous election experience," Associated Press-WWSB, February 13, 2019. http://www.mysuncoast.com/2019/02/13/key-election-officials-have-no-previous-election-experience-2/

¹⁵ "A look at Broward's elections chief Brenda Snipes long history of trouble," Sun-Sentinel, November 9, 2018. https://www.sun-sentinel.com/news/politics/fl-ne-who-is-brenda-snipes-20181109-story.html

¹⁶ "A look at Broward's elections chief Brenda Snipes long history of trouble," Sun-Sentinel, November 9, 2018. https://www.sun-sentinel.com/news/politics/fl-ne-who-is-brenda-snipes-20181109-story.html

¹⁷ "Broward County election supervisor Brenda Snipes resigns following chaotic Florida recount," Washington Post, November 19, 2018.

https://www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2018/11/19/broward-county-election-supervisor-brenda-snipes-resigns-following-chaotic-florida-recount/?noredirect=on&utm_term=.6aa4ae801f2c

¹⁸ "Mail-in votes helped make Florida's election a nightmare. A solution, More mail-in votes," Miami Herald, February 28, 2019. https://www.miamiherald.com/news/politics-government/election/article224873455.html

¹⁹ "Florida Elections: Broward judge rules Snipes violated Constitution," The Palm Beach Post, November 9, 2018. https://www.palmbeachpost.com/news/20181109/florida-elections-broward-judge-rules-snipes-violated-constitution

²⁰ "Broward County election supervisor Brenda Snipes resigns following chaotic Florida recount," Washington Post, November 19, 2018.

 $\frac{https://www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2018/11/19/broward-county-election-supervisor-brenda-snipes-resigns-following-chaotic-florida-recount/?utm_term=.b57bb99561d2$

²¹ "Brenda Snipes says she'll fight suspension by Gov. Scott, and rescinds resignation," Sun-Sentinel, December 1, 2018. https://www.sun-sentinel.com/local/broward/fl-ne-brenda-snipes-rescinds-resignation-20181201-story.html

²² "Lawsuit over, Brenda Snipes leaves spotlight with 'my dignity and name restored,'" Sun-Sentinel, January 24, 2019. https://www.sun-sentinel.com/local/broward/fl-ne-brenda-snipes-ends-court-case-20190124-story.html

²³ "What Went Wrong," Broward County Supervisor of Elections Peter Antonacci, January 19, 2019. https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/what-went-wrong.pdf
²⁴ "Audit finds 2018 election in Broward County was marred by waste, extra votes, unnecessary delays," Sun-Sentinel, May 26, 2020. https://www.miamiherald.com/news/politics-government/article242992431.html
²⁵ "New details of Broward's 2018 recount fiasco revealed by county auditor," Miami Herald, May 26, 2020. https://www.miamiherald.com/news/politics-government/article242992431.html

²⁶ "Broward County ramping up for expected surge in mail voting for the 2020 elections," Sun-Sentinel, April 21, 2020. https://www.sun-sentinel.com/news/politics/fl-ne-broward-mail-voting-2020-plans-20200421-zrptiuxjpzft3opsrik6b5dqau-story.html

²⁷ "Broward County: Florida's elections problem child vows to do better in 2020," Naples Daily News, February 26, 2020. https://www.news-press.com/in-depth/news/2020/02/25/broward-county-florida-election-problems-november-2020/4681979002/

²⁸ "Governor suspends Palm Beach County's elections supervisor," Palm Beach Post, January 19, 2019. https://www.palmbeachpost.com/news/20190118/governor-suspends-palm-beach-countys-elections-supervisor

²⁹ "18 years since the butterfly ballot, Florida's voting system still can't get it right," Fox4, November 9, 2018. https://www.fox4now.com/news/political/18-years-since-the-butterfly-ballot-florida-s-voting-system-still-can-t-get-it-right-1

³⁰ "18 years since the butterfly ballot, Florida's voting system still can't get it right," Fox4, November 9, 2018. https://www.fox4now.com/news/political/18-years-since-the-butterfly-ballot-florida-s-voting-system-still-can-t-get-it-right-1

³¹ "Even though Florida's recount is over, Palm Beach may be counting until Christmas," Miami Herald, November 18, 2018. https://www.miamiherald.com/news/politics-government/election/article221842680.html

³² "'We broke down:' Why Palm Beach county won't meet recount deadline," Politico, November 15, 2018. https://www.politico.com/states/florida/story/2018/11/15/we-broke-down-why-palm-beach-county-wont-meet-recount-deadline-699188

³³ "Governor suspends Palm Beach County's elections supervisor," Palm Beach Post, January 19, 2019. https://www.palmbeachpost.com/news/20190118/governor-suspends-palm-beach-countys-elections-supervisor

³⁴ "Gov. DeSantis replaces Palm Beach elections chief after 2018 election woes," Sun-Sentinel, January 18, 2019. https://www.sun-sentinel.com/news/politics/fl-ne-ron-desantis-suspends-susan-bucher-20190118-story.html

³⁵ "Even though Florida's recount is over, Palm Beach may be counting until Christmas," Miami Herald, November 18, 2018. https://www.miamiherald.com/news/politics-government/election/article221842680.html

³⁶ "Even though Florida's recount is over, Palm Beach may be counting until Christmas," Miami Herald, November 18, 2018. https://www.miamiherald.com/news/politics-government/election/article221842680.html

Secretary of State Michael Ertel letter to Governor Ron DeSantis, January 17, 2019.
 https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Bucher-Recommendation.pdf
 State of Florida, Office of the Governor, Executive Order 19-19," January 18, 2019.
 https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/EO-19-19.pdf

³⁹ "Governor suspends Palm Beach County's elections supervisor," Palm Beach Post, January 19, 2019. https://www.palmbeachpost.com/news/20190118/governor-suspends-palm-beach-countys-elections-supervisor

⁴⁰ "Susan Bucher resigns after being suspended by Gov. DeSantis," WPBF25 News, January 2, 2019. https://www.wpbf.com/article/desantis-suspends-palm-beach-elections-supervisor-susan-bucher/25952891

⁴¹ "Governor suspends Palm Beach County's elections supervisor," Palm Beach Post, January 19, 2019. https://www.palmbeachpost.com/news/20190118/governor-suspends-palm-beach-countys-elections-supervisor

⁴² "Governor suspends Palm Beach County's elections supervisor," Palm Beach Post, January 19, 2019. https://www.palmbeachpost.com/news/20190118/governor-suspends-palm-beach-countys-elections-supervisor

⁴³ "Ted Deutch says partisan conspiracy theories led to removal of Palm Beach County election supervisor Susan Butcher," Sun-Sentinel, January 22, 2019. https://www.sun-sentinel.com/news/politics/fl-ne-ted-deutch-ron-desantis-susan-bucher-suspension-20190122-story.html

⁴⁴ "Gov. DeSantis replaces Palm Beach elections chief after 2018 election woes," Sun-Sentinel, January 18, 2019. https://www.sun-sentinel.com/news/politics/fl-ne-ron-desantis-suspends-susan-bucher-20190118-story.html

⁴⁵ "Election debacle leads to \$15 million voting overhaul in Palm Beach County," Sun-Sentinel, February 5, 2019. https://www.sun-sentinel.com/local/palm-beach/fl-ne-palm-beach-county-voting-money-20190205-story.html

⁴⁶ "Elections Official appointed by Florida's top Trump supporter says president is wrong about claims of mail-voting fraud," Sun-Sentinel, July 7, 2020. https://www.sun-sentinel.com/news/politics/fl-ne-election-supervisor-disputes-trump-mail-ballot-fraud-claims-20200707-5zr5ymii6bhwfpmxekfxm53l2m-story.html

⁴⁷ 2019 Summary of Legislation Passed, CS/SB 7066, Election Administration, Committee on Ethics and Elections, Florida Senate, 2019. https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Senate-Bill-7066.pdf

⁴⁸ Voting Restoration Amendment, 14-01, Florida Division of Elections. https://dos.elections.myflorida.com/initiatives/initdetail.asp?account=64388&seqnum=1

⁴⁹ Voting Restoration Amendment, 14-01, Florida Division of Elections. https://dos.elections.myflorida.com/initiatives/initdetail.asp?account=64388&seqnum=1

⁵⁰ 2019 Summary of Legislation Passed, CS/SB 7066, Election Administration, Committee on Ethics and Elections, Florida Senate, 2019. https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Senate-Bill-7066.pdf

⁵¹ "Groups Sue to Block New Florida Law that Undermines Voting Rights Restoration," ACLU Florida, June 28, 2019. https://www.aclufl.org/en/press-releases/groups-sue-block-new-florida-law-undermines-voting-rights-restoration

⁵² "Federal Judge clears way for felons to vote in Florida," Naples Daily News, May 26, 2020. https://www.naplesnews.com/story/news/local/florida/2020/05/26/federal-judge-clears-way-felons-vote/5258796002/

- ⁵⁴ "Ex-felons' voting rights on hold in Florida after court agrees to hear DeSantis' Amendment 4 appeal," Orlando Sentinel, July 1, 2020. https://www.orlandosentinel.com/politics/2020-election/os-ne-amendment-4-stay-20200701-r5gjfmv27jfe5fm5xuvjtgfeua-story.html
- ⁵⁵ 2019 Summary of Legislation Passed, CS/SB 7066, Election Administration, Committee on Ethics and Elections, Florida Senate, 2019. https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Senate-Bill-7066.pdf
- ⁵⁶ CS/HB 1005, 2020 Legislature, Florida House of Representatives. https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/HB-1005.pdf
- ⁵⁷ CS/HB 100--Voting Systems, 2020 Summary of Legislation Passed, Committee on Ethics and Elections, Florida Senate. https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/House-Bill-1005.pdf
- ⁵⁸ "Florida election supervisors can use auditing equipment for ballot recounts," USA Today Network, Tallahassee Democrat, July 2, 2020.
- $\underline{https://www.tallahassee.com/story/news/local/state/2020/06/30/florida-election-supervisors-canuse-auditing-systems-recount-ballots/3284210001/$
- ⁵⁹ "Even though Florida's recount is over, Palm Beach may be counting until Christmas," Miami Herald, November 18, 2018. https://www.miamiherald.com/news/politics-government/election/article221842680.html
- ⁶⁰ Governor DeSantis: VETO CS/HB 1005 Voting Systems, March 25, 2020. https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/2020.03.25-VETO-CSHB-1005-FINAL.pdf
- ⁶¹ "Prospect of chaos in November grows as coronavirus cases rise and Trump escalates attacks on voting," CNN, July 8, 2020. https://www.cnn.com/2020/07/08/politics/november-elections-voting-coronavirus/index.html
- ⁶² "As November Looms, So Does the Most Litigious Election Ever," New York Times, July 8, 2020. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/07/us/2020-election-laws.html
- ⁶³ Election Law Blog. https://electionlawblog.org/
- ⁶⁴ "Voting rights groups and state of Florida settle vote-by-mail lawsuit," USA Today Network-Tallahassee Democrat, July 20, 2020.
- $\underline{https://www.tallahassee.com/story/news/politics/2020/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810002/2000/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810002/2000/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810002/2000/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810002/2000/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810002/2000/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810002/2000/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810002/2000/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810002/2000/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810002/2000/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-floridasettle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/20/vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/20/vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/20/vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/20/vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/20/vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/20/vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/20/vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/20/vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/20/vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810000/20/07/2$
- ⁶⁵ "Voting rights groups and state of Florida settle vote-by-mail lawsuit," USA Today Network-Tallahassee Democrat, July 20, 2020.
- $\underline{https://www.tallahassee.com/story/news/politics/2020/07/20/voting-rights-groups-state-florida-settle-vote-mail-lawsuit/5471810002/$

⁵³ "Appeals court stops judge's order granting Florida felons right to vote," Tampa Bay Times, July 1, 2020. https://www.tampabay.com/florida-politics/buzz/2020/07/01/appeals-court-stops-judges-order-granting-florida-felons-right-to-vote/

⁶⁶ "Vote-by-mail settlement clears decks for voting in crucial FL primary, general elections," Florida Phoenix, July 21, 2020. https://www.floridaphoenix.com/2020/07/21/vote-by-mail-settlement-clears-decks-for-voting-in-crucial-fl-primary-general-elections/

⁶⁷ "Priorities USA and others agree to drop voting lawsuit against Florida," Politico, July 19, 2020. <a href="https://www.politico.com/states/florida/story/2020/07/19/priorities-usa-and-others-agree-to-drop-voting-lawsuit-against-florida-1302173?nname=florida-playbook&nid=0000014f-1646-d88f-a1cf-5f46b4500000&nrid=00000154-c9b3-dd87-a55e-e9b798c30001&nlid=630310

⁶⁸ "All-Mail Elections Quietly Flourish," National Conference of State Legislatures," https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/states-and-election-reform-the-canvass-july-2014.aspx#All-Mail%20Elections

⁶⁹ "All-Mail Elections (aka Vote-by-Mail)," National Conference of State Legislatures, March 24, 2020. https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/all-mail-elections.aspx

⁷⁰ "There Is No Evidence That Voting by Mail gives One Party an Advantage," FiveThirtyEight, May 12, 2020. https://fivethirtyeight.com/features/there-is-no-evidence-that-voting-by-mail-gives-one-party-an-

<u>advantage/?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200701&instance_id=19904&nl=the-morning®i_id=62334154&segment_id=32312&te=1&user_id=d4f1481a9e7dcf860e6e26567</u>ee93a54

71 "So you want to vote by mail in Florida? Here's what you need to know." Tampa Bay Times, June 22, 2020. https://www.tampabay.com/florida-politics/buzz/2020/06/22/so-you-want-to-vote-by-mail-in-florida-heres-what-you-need-to-know/

 72 Title IX, Electors and Elections, 2019 Florida Statutes.

 $\underline{http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute\&URL=0100-0199/0101/Sections/0101.62.html$

⁷³ "All-Mail Elections (aka Vote-by-Mail)," National Conference of State Legislatures, March 24, 2020. https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/states-and-election-reform-the-canvass-july-2014.aspx#All-Mail%20Elections

⁷⁴ "Need a Witness For Your Mail-In Ballot? New Pandemic Lawsuits Challenge Old Rules," NPR, June 1, 2020.

 $\underline{https://www.npr.org/2020/06/01/865043618/need-a-witness-for-your-mail-in-ballot-new-pandemic-lawsuits-challenge-old-rules}$

⁷⁵ "States failed to get absentee ballots to thousands of voters in recent primary elections, signaling problems for November," CNN, June 22, 2020.

https://www.cnn.com/2020/06/20/politics/absentee-voting-election-problems/index.html

⁷⁶ "So you want to vote by mail in Florida? Here's what you need to know." Tampa Bay Times, June 22, 2020. https://www.tampabay.com/florida-politics/buzz/2020/06/22/so-you-want-to-vote-by-mail-in-florida-heres-what-you-need-to-know/

⁷⁷ "3 Weeks After Primary, N.Y. Officials Still Can't Say Who Won Key Races," New York Times, July 17, 2020. <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/17/nyregion/election-absentee-ballots-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=edit_nn_20200717&instance_id=20392&nl=the-primary.html?campaign_id=9&emc=

<u>morning®i_id=14097406&segment_id=33637&te=1&user_id=f2c3f336eef4f61bf3f5160db5</u> 8a8076

⁷⁸ "States failed to get absentee ballots to thousands of voters in recent primary elections, signaling problems for November," CNN, June 22, 2020.

https://www.cnn.com/2020/06/20/politics/absentee-voting-election-problems/index.html

- ⁷⁹ https://baltimore.cbslocal.com/2020/06/04/maryland-lawmakers-call-for-review-of-primary-election-problems/
- ⁸⁰ "States failed to get absentee ballots to thousands of voters in recent primary elections, signaling problems for November," CNN, June 22, 2020.

https://www.cnn.com/2020/06/20/politics/absentee-voting-election-problems/index.html

- ⁸¹ "Need a Witness For Your Mail-In Ballot? New Pandemic Lawsuits Challenge Old Rules," NPR, June 1, 2020. https://www.npr.org/2020/06/01/865043618/need-a-witness-for-your-mail-in-ballot-new-pandemic-lawsuits-challenge-old-rules
- ⁸² "More than 18,000 mail ballots not counted in Florida's March presidential primary," Tampa Bay Times, June 29, 2020. https://www.tampabay.com/news/health/2020/06/29/more-than-18000-mail-ballots-not-counted-in-floridas-march-presidential-preference-primary/
- ⁸³ "Here's the problem with mail-in ballots: They might not be counted." Washington Post, May 21, 2020. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2020/05/21/heres-problem-with-mail-in-ballots-they-might-not-be-counted/
- ⁸⁴ "Tens of thousands of mail ballots have been tossed out in this year's primaries. What will happen in November?" Washington Post, July 16, 2020.

https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/tens-of-thousands-of-mail-ballots-have-been-tossed-out-in-this-years-primaries-what-will-happen-in-november/2020/07/16/fa5d7e96-c527-11ea-b037-

f9711f89ee46_story.html?utm_campaign=wp_politics_am&utm_medium=email&utm_source=newsletter&wpisrc=nl_politics

- ⁸⁵ "Pence-Kobach voting commission alarms states with info request," CNN, July 1, 2017. https://www.cnn.com/2017/06/30/politics/kris-kobach-voter-commission-rolls/index.html
- ⁸⁶ "In leaked audio, a top Trump adviser said the Republican party has 'traditionally' relied on voter suppression," Business Insider, December 21, 2019.

 $\underline{https://www.businessinsider.com/leaked-audio-trump-adviser-republicans-rely-voter-suppression-justin-clark-2019-12}$

- ⁸⁷ "Paul Weyrich "I don't want everybody to vote," YouTube, June 8, 2007. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8GBAsFwPglw&feature=youtu.be
- ⁸⁸ "Will America Remain a Democracy in 2020?" Larry Diamond, the American Interest, April 24, 2020. https://www.the-american-interest.com/2020/04/24/will-america-remain-a-democracy-in-2020/
- ⁸⁹ "Trump says Republicans would 'never' be elected again if it was easier to vote," the Guardian, March 30, 2020. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2020/mar/30/trump-republican-party-voting-reform-coronavirus

⁹⁰ "Answering Questions About Vote-By-Mail in California Amid COVID-19, Attacks By Trump," PolitiFact, June 2, 2020. https://www.politifact.com/article/2020/jun/03/answeringquestions-about-vote-mail-california-tru/

⁹¹ "GOP to Trump: Change tune on mail-in voting or risk ugly November," CNN, July 16, 2020. https://www.cnn.com/2020/07/16/politics/republican-reaction-trump-mail-in-voting/index.html

92 "Universal vote-by-mail has no impact on partisan turnout or vote share," Thompson, Wu, Yoder, Hall, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, June 9, 2020. https://www.pnas.org/content/117/25/14052

93 "Does Vote-by-Mail Favor Democrats? No. It's a False Argument by Trump," New York times, June 19, 2020. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/10/us/politics/vote-by-mail.html ⁹⁴ "Does Vote-by-Mail Favor Democrats? No. It's a False Argument by Trump," New York times, June 19, 2020. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/10/us/politics/vote-by-mail.html 95 "There Is No Evidence That Voting by Mail gives One Party an Advantage," FiveThirtyEight, May 12, 2020. https://fivethirtyeight.com/features/there-is-no-evidence-that-voting-by-mailgives-one-party-an-advantage/

⁹⁶ "PolitiFact California: Does Voting By Mail Lead to Higher Turnout In Red, Blue and Purple States? It's Not That Simple," PolitiFact California, May 18, 2020.

 $\underline{https://www.capradio.org/articles/2020/05/18/does-voting-by-mail-lead-to-higher-turnout-in-red-lead-turnout-in-red-lead-tu$ blue-and-purple-states-its-not-that-simple/

⁹⁷ "Identifying the Effect of all-Mail Elections on Turnout: Staggered reform in the Evergreen State," Gerber, Huber and Hill, Political Science Research and Methods, June 2013.

https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/political-science-research-and-

methods/article/identifying-the-effect-of-allmail-elections-on-turnout-staggered-reform-in-theevergreen-state/3725E51B9B7F331D77DC9B49130D7F7D

98 Utah 2016: Evidence for the positive turnout effects of "Vote At Home" (also known as Vote By Mail) in participating counties," Pantheon Analytics, May 3, 2018.

https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/ef45f5_fcc651c4d4f1456b8340bb4c2cc0ca12.pdf

⁹⁹ "Voting by Mail and Ballot Rejection: Lessons from Florida for Elections in the Age of the Coronavirus," Baringer, Herron and Smith, April 18, 2020. https://www.integrityflorida.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/07/Baringer Herron Smith VBM FL.pdf

100 Donald J. Trump Twitter feed, May 26, 2020.

https://twitter.com/realDonaldTrump/status/1265255835124539392

101 https://www.npr.org/sections/coronavirus-live-updates/2020/04/07/829323152/fact-check-ismail-ballot-fraud-as-rampant-as-president-trump-says-it-is

102 "Fact Check: Is Mail Ballot Fraud As Rampant As President Trump Says It Is?" NPR/WFSU, April 7, 2020. https://www.politifact.com/factchecks/2020/may/26/donald-trump/no-californianot-sending-mail-ballots-anyone-stat/

¹⁰³ "The False Narrative of Vote-by-Mail Fraud," Brennan Center for Justice, April 10, 2020. https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/analysis-opinion/false-narrative-vote-mail-fraud

104 "Minuscule number of potentially fraudulent ballots in states with universal mail voting undercuts Trump claims about election risks," Washington Post, June 8, 2020.

https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/minuscule-number-of-potentially-fraudulent-ballots-in-states-with-universal-mail-voting-undercuts-trump-claims-about-election-risks/2020/06/08/1e78aa26-a5c5-11ea-bb20-ebf0921f3bbd_story.html

- ¹⁰⁵ "Report: Trump commission did not find widespread voter fraud," Associated Press, August 3, 2018. https://apnews.com/f5f6a73b2af546ee97816bb35e82c18d/Report:-Trump-commission-did-not-find-widespread-voter-fraud
- ¹⁰⁶ "The False Narrative of Vote-by-Mail Fraud," Brennan Center for Justice, April 10, 2020. https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/analysis-opinion/false-narrative-vote-mail-fraud
- ¹⁰⁷ "Prospect of chaos in November grows as coronavirus cases rise and Trump escalates attacks on Voting," CNN, July 8, 2020. https://www.cnn.com/2020/07/08/politics/november-elections-voting-coronavirus/index.html
- "Mail Carrier in West Virginia Pleads Guilty to Attempted Election Fraud," New York Times, July 11, 2020. <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/09/us/politics/west-Virginia-election-fraud.html?action=click&algo=top_conversion&block=trending_recirc&fellback=false&imp_id=716713907&impression_id=338978083&index=0&pgtype=Article®ion=footer&req_id=756433929&surface=most-popular
- ¹⁰⁹ "Minuscule number of potentially fraudulent ballots in states with universal mail voting undercuts Trump claims about election risks," Washington Post, June 8, 2020.

https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/minuscule-number-of-potentially-fraudulent-ballots-in-states-with-universal-mail-voting-undercuts-trump-claims-about-election-risks/2020/06/08/1e78aa26-a5c5-11ea-bb20-ebf0921f3bbd_story.html

- ¹¹⁰ "Donald Trump Questions Veracity of Ballot Counting in Colorado," New York Times, October29, 2016. https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/30/us/politics/donald-trump-ballots-colorado.html
- ¹¹¹ "Increase in mail-in ballots due to COVID has created greater election integrity, government official says," ABC News, July 17, 2020. https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/increase-mail-ballots-due-covid-created-greater-election/story?id=71851931
- ¹¹² "The Colorado Voting Experience," Common Cause Education Fund.

https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/ColoradoVotingReport_WEB2.pdf 113 C.R.S. Title 1 Elections, Article 7.5 Mail ballot elections, Colorado Secretary of State.

 $\underline{https://www.sos.state.co.us/pubs/info_center/laws/Title1/Title1Article7-5.html}$

114 "The Colorado Voting Experience," Common Cause Education Fund.

https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/ColoradoVotingReport_WEB2.pdf 115 "2018 Abstract of Votes Cast," Office of the Secretary of State, State of Colorado."

https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/2018Abstract.pdf

¹¹⁶ "It's been a smooth ride for most Colorado voters, but even minor midterm glitches seem bigger in a volatile political climate," Colorado Sun, June 25, 2020.

https://coloradosun.com/2018/11/06/colorado-voting-problems-2018/

¹¹⁷ "The president says all-mail ballots benefit Democrats and lead to rampant voter fraud. Colorado says no," Denver Post, May 24, 2020. https://www.denverpost.com/2020/05/24/mail-vote-ballots-colorado-coronavirus/

¹¹⁸ "No, Fraud Isn't Rampant in Colorado's Mail-In Voting System," 5280.com, May 1, 2020. https://www.5280.com/2020/05/no-fraud-isnt-rampant-in-colorados-mail-in-voting-system/

¹¹⁹ "America Goes to the Polls 2018. Voter Turnout and eletion Policy in the 50 States," Nonprofitvote.org and US Elections Project, March 2019. https://www.integrityflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/america-goes-polls-2018.pdf

¹²⁰ "Hawaii Opts for Voting by Mail," U.S. News & World Report, June 26, 2019.

https://www.usnews.com/news/best-states/articles/2019-06-26/all-mail-balloting-becomes-law-in-hawaii

121 "Sign, Sealed, And Counted – Securing Your Vote, State of Hawaii Office of Elections,
 March 30, 2020. https://elections.hawaii.gov/main/sign-sealed-and-counted-securing-your-vote/
 122 "Registration & Turnout Statistics," State of Hawaii Office of Elections,

https://elections.hawaii.gov/resources/registration-voter-turnout-statistics/

123 "Hawaii Opts for Voting by Mail," U.S. News & World Report, June 26, 2019.

https://www.usnews.com/news/best-states/articles/2019-06-26/all-mail-balloting-becomes-law-in-hawaii

¹²⁴ "Education, security among concerns as Hawaii prepares for first all-mail election, KITV4 ABC, December 13, 2019. https://www.kitv.com/story/41451655/education-security-among-concerns-as-hawaii-prepares-for-first-allmail-election

¹²⁵ "Problems plague polling sites in Hawaii," KITV4 ABC, November 8, 2016.

https://www.kitv.com/story/33664412/problems-plague-polling-sites-in-hawaii

¹²⁶ "Why Republicans don't like vote by mail (except in Utah)," Deseret News, April 14, 2020. https://www.deseret.com/indepth/2020/4/14/21215746/coronavirus-covid-19-utah-vote-by-mail-republican-democrat-election-2020-trump-nancy-pelosi

¹²⁷ "Utah 2016: Evidence for the positive turnout effects of 'Vote At Home' (also known as Vote By Mail) in participating counties," Pantheon Analytics, May 3, 2018.

 $\underline{https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/ef45f5_fcc651c4d4f1456b8340bb4c2cc0ca12.pdf}$

¹²⁸ "Why Republicans don't like vote by mail (except in Utah)," Deseret News, April 14, 2020. https://www.deseret.com/indepth/2020/4/14/21215746/coronavirus-covid-19-utah-vote-by-mail-republican-democrat-election-2020-trump-nancy-pelosi

¹²⁹ Utah Code, Election Code, Utah State Legislature.

 $\frac{https://le.utah.gov/xcode/Title20A/Chapter3A/20A-3a-S202.html?v=C20A-3a-S202_2020051220200512}{\text{Matter San Superson Superson$

¹³⁰ "Lt. Gov. Spencer Cox praises 'ridiculous' jump in Utah voter turnout after statewide canvass of election results," Salt Lake Tribune, November 26, 2018.

https://www.sltrib.com/news/politics/2018/11/26/lt-gov-spencer-cox/

¹³¹ "Big voter turnout in 2018 has Utah election officials bracing ahead of next year," UtahPolicy.com, December 2, 2019. https://utahpolicy.com/index.php/features/today-at-utah-policy/22325-big-voter-turnout-in-2018-has-utah-election-officials-bracing-ahead-of-next-year
¹³² "Heavily Republican Utah likes voting by mail, but national GOP declares war on it," Salt Lake Tribune, May 19, 2020. https://www.sltrib.com/news/politics/2020/05/18/heavily-republican-utah/

133 "Oregon Vote-by-Mail," Oregon Secretary of State.

https://sos.oregon.gov/elections/Documents/statistics/vote-by-mail-timeline.pdf

¹³⁴ ORS 254.470 Procedures for conducting election by mail, OregonLaws.org.

https://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/254.470

¹³⁵ Voter Turnout History for General Elections, Oregon Secretary of State.

 $\underline{https://sos.oregon.gov/elections/Documents/Voter_Turnout_History_General_Election.pdf}$

¹³⁶ "10 Oregon voters plead guilty to voter fraud in 2016 presidential election," the Oregonian, April 29, 2019. https://www.oregonlive.com/politics/2019/04/10-oregon-voters-plea-guilty-to-voter-fraud-in-2016-presidential-election.html

¹³⁷ "Election Fraud Cases," the Heritage Foundation.

https://www.heritage.org/voterfraud/search?state=OR

¹³⁸ "Uncounted Oregon votes expose election vulnerability," Associated Press, May 7, 2019. https://apnews.com/555282eacee64bd493ef909fdaa8abd7

¹³⁹ "Were Oregon voters mailed the 'wrong' ballots for the primary election?" PolitiFact, May 22, 2020. https://www.politifact.com/article/2020/may/22/were-oregon-voters-mailed-wrong-ballots-primary-el/

¹⁴⁰ Frequently Asked Questions on Voting by Mail, Secretary of State, State of Washington. https://www.sos.wa.gov/elections/faq_vote_by_mail.aspx

¹⁴¹ Voter Turnout by Election, Secretary of State, State of Washington.

https://www.sos.wa.gov/elections/research/voter-turnout-by-election.aspx

¹⁴² Frequently Asked Questions on Voting by Mail, Secretary of State, State of Washington. https://www.sos.wa.gov/elections/faq_vote_by_mail.aspx

¹⁴³ "Trump rants about fraud. But here's the secret to keeping voting by mail secure." NBC News, May 27, 2020. https://news.yahoo.com/trump-rants-fraud-heres-secret-105650364.html
¹⁴⁴ "The Facts About Mail-In Voting and Voter Fraud," New York Times, June 22, 2020. https://www.nytimes.com/article/mail-in-vote-fraud-ballot.html

145 "Secretary of State's Office reports 142 suspected improper voting cases in 2018,"
 MyNorthwest, May 5, 2020. https://mynorthwest.com/1852103/sos-improper-voting-2018/
 146 "Poll: Two-thirds support vote-by-mail as alternative to in-person voting during pandemic,"
 The Hill, May 4, 2020. https://thehill.com/homenews/state-watch/496009-poll-two-thirds-support-vote-by-mail-as-alternative-to-in-person

¹⁴⁷ "Nearly two-thirds favor voting by mail, but wide partisan divide: poll," Fox News, May 25, 2020. https://www.foxnews.com/politics/favor-voting-by-mail-but-wide-partisan-divide-poll

¹⁴⁸ "Two-thirds of voters back vote-by-mail in November 2020," NBC News, April 21, 2020. https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/meet-the-press/two-thirds-voters-back-vote-mail-november-2020-n1187976

¹⁴⁹ "Poll: Most Americans back vote-by-mail amid coronavirus pandemic," Axios, April 29, 2020. https://www.axios.com/save-poll-most-americans-back-mail-vote-covid-19-8cf533ef-8e1a-438a-8f62-8f9e4b97138b.html

¹⁵⁰ "AP-NORC poll: Rising support for mail voting amid pandemic," Associated Press, April 27, 2020. https://apnews.com/f47f4e984f7b3688869285abb80c1eae